Item: 17

Human Resources Sub-committee: 1 February 2022.

1. Recommendations

It is recommended:

1.1.

That the Committee approves the attached minute as a true record.

1.2.

That the Committee considers the recommendations at paragraph 2.2.

2. Appendix

Draft Minute of the Meeting of the Human Resources Sub-committee held on 1 February 2022.

Minute

Human Resources Sub-committee

Tuesday, 1 February 2022, 14:00.

Microsoft Teams.



Present

Councillors W Leslie Manson, Alexander G Cowie, Robin W Crichton, Steven B Heddle, John T Richards, Gwenda M Shearer, James W Stockan and Duncan A Tullock.

Clerk

• Sandra Craigie, Committees Officer.

In Attendance

- Gareth Waterson, Interim Executive Director of Finance, Regulatory, Marine and Transportation Services.
- James Wylie, Executive Director of Education, Leisure and Housing.
- Gavin Mitchell, Head of Legal Services.
- Hazel Flett, Senior Committees Officer.
- · Craig Walker, Senior Human Resources Adviser.

Observing

Rebecca McAuliffe, Press Officer

Declarations of Interest

- Councillor Stephen B Heddle Item 2.
- Councillor Gwenda M Shearer Item 2.
- Councillor Duncan A Tullock Item 2.

Chair

· Councillor W Leslie Manson.

1. Form of Voting

The Sub-committee resolved that, should a vote be required in respect of the matters to be considered at this meeting, notwithstanding Standing Order 21.4, the form of voting should be by calling the roll (recorded vote).

2. Annual Leave and Public Holidays - Policy and Procedure

Councillors Steven B Heddle, Gwenda M Shearer and Duncan A Tullock declared non-financial interests in this item, in that close family members were employed by the Council, but concluded that their interests did not preclude their involvement in the discussion.

After consideration of a report by the Executive Director of Education, Leisure and Housing, together with an Equality Impact Assessment, copies of which had been circulated, and after hearing a report from the Senior Human Resources Adviser, the Sub-committee:

Noted:

2.1. That the Council currently had a range of varying terms and conditions of service, statutory requirements and guidance in relation to Annual Leave and Public Holidays, but no single policy and procedure.

On the motion of Councillor James W Stockan, seconded by Councillor Robin W Crichton, the Sub-committee resolved to **recommend to the Council**:

2.2. That the Annual Leave and Public Holidays – Policy and Procedure, attached as Appendix 1 to this Minute, be approved.

3. Conclusion of Meeting

At 14:13 the Chair declared the meeting concluded.

Signed: W Leslie Manson.



Annual Leave and Public Holidays Policy and Procedure March 2022

Table of Contents

Annual Leave and Public Holidays	1
Policy and Procedure	1
March 2022	1
1. Scope of Policy	4
2. General	4
3. Statutory Leave Entitlement	4
4. Council Staff - Scottish Joint Council (SJC) Conditions of Service	5
4.1. Leave Year	5
4.2. Annual Leave	5
4.3. Public Holidays	6
4.4. Shift Workers, Part-Time, Term-Time and other working patterns	8
4.5. Annualised Hours Contracted Employees	
4.6. Casual/Supply/Relief Workers	9
4.7. Starters and Leavers	10
4.8. Requesting and Approval of Leave	11
4.9. Carry Forward of Leave	12
4.10. Annual Leave/Public Holidays and Sickness	13
5. SNCT Staff (including Teachers, Music Instructors and Educational Psychologists)	
5.1. Leave Year	16
5.2. Annual Leave and Public Holiday Entitlement	16
5.3. Entitlement – Starters and Leavers	17
5.4. Annual Leave/Public Holidays and Sickness	18
5.5. Annual Leave/Public Holidays and Related Policies	19
6. Orkney College Staff (Academic and Support staff)	20
6.1. Leave Year	20
6.2. Entitlement – Annual Leave	20
6.3. Entitlement – Public Holidays	20
6.4. Other Provisions	20
6.5. NJNC National Bargaining for Scottish Colleges	20
7. Chief Officers (SJNC Chief Officials Conditions of Service)	21
Annex 1	22
Term Time Working Weeks including Annual Leave and Public Holiday Entitlemen	t.22
Annex 2	26
Example SJC Starter and Leaver calculations	26
Annex 3	27

1. Scope of Policy

The Annual Leave and Policy and Procedure will apply to all employees of Orkney Islands Council, including Scottish Joint Council (SJC)/Single Status employees, Teachers and other employees covered by Scottish Negotiating Committee for Teachers (SNCT) conditions of service, Orkney College Academic staff, Chief Officers including Heads of Service, Executive Directors, and the Chief Executive.

The Annual Leave and Public Holidays Policy and Procedure will be reviewed by the Head of Human Resources and Performance, or their nominated representative, in conjunction with recognised trade unions in line with the schedule for the review of all Council Human Resources Policies and Procedures, normally every five years. Should changes to employment law or Schemes of Conditions of Service dictate, a review within this timescale can be carried out by agreement with the Head of Human Resources and Performance.

Annexes to this policy and procedure and subsequent guidance issued in respect of facilitating the proper use of this policy and procedure shall be revised and updated by the Head of Human Resources and Performance or their nominated representative as appropriate. Such revisions, other than where they would constitute substantive change to practice, shall not normally require further consultation with the recognised Trade Unions or that the policy is formally submitted to Council for approval.

2. General

This policy contains details of the Council's standard procedure for administering and recording the taking of annual leave.

Staff may be required to take any part of their annual leave entitlement on such dates as the Council may require.

All leave requested must be properly recorded and authorised by the Line Manager and must be within the exigencies of the service, prior to leave being taken. Managers are responsible for monitoring levels of annual leave taken and ensuring that leave is taken by their team members.

For the purposes of holiday pay, a reference working week is defined as Sunday to Saturday.

3. Statutory Leave Entitlement

There is a statutory entitlement to 20 days holiday and 8 public holidays, or 28 days (5.6 weeks) based on a full-time (35- or 37-hours contract and 52 weeks working per year). There is a pro-rata entitlement for part-time and part-week/year working.

Any reference to statutory leave entitlement within this document refers to this 28-day (5.6 weeks) entitlement.

Statutory leave entitlement must be taken by employees and payment in lieu of all or part of this cannot be made, other than where employment ends and the leave has not been able to be taken.

4. Council Staff - Scottish Joint Council (SJC) Conditions of Service

4.1. Leave Year

The leave year for staff covered by SJC conditions of service runs from 1 April to 31 March each year.

4.2. Annual Leave

4.2.1. Entitlement

The entitlement to annual leave is defined under contracts of employment for all staff. The entitlement is based on a full-time (35- or 37-hours contract and 52 weeks working per year). There is a pro-rata entitlement for part-time and part-week/year working.

Annual Leave Entitlement excluding Public Holidays			
	Entitlement in days	Entitlement in hours (35-hour FTE post)	Entitlement in hours (37-hour FTE post)
Less than 1 years' service at 1 April	23	161	170.2
More than 1 years' service at 1 April but less than 2	24	168	177.6
More than 2 years' service at 1 April but less than 3	25	175	185
More than 3 years' service at 1 April but less than 4	26	182	192.4
More than 4 years' service at 1 April but less than 5	27	189	199.8
5 years or more service at 1 April	28	196	207.2

A spreadsheet to automatically calculate pro-rata leave and public holiday entitlement for starters, leavers and part-time/part week or year is available from Human Resources and should be used as the default method of calculation.

4.2.2. Payment – Workers with fixed hours or pay

Payment for annual leave where an individual has fixed working hours or pay, i.e. full-time, or part-time contracted hours of work, is paid at the normal rate of pay for the post (grade and spinal column point for the individual employee). This will include fixed contractual allowances including Distant Islands Allowance and Unsocial Hours/Shift/Night Working payments.

For part-time contracted staff an 8.3% premium is paid in lieu of leave entitlement for any ad-hoc additional hours worked and overtime, therefore these hours should not be considered when working out contractual leave entitlement.

Where part-time contracted employees are regularly working additional hours more than their contract (4 weeks or more consecutively), they have a right to have a temporary amendment to their contract progressed via a Change in Establishment. This will then adjust their annual leave and public holiday entitlement, rather than them being paid the 8.3% premium.

4.2.3. Payment – Workers without fixed hours or pay (casual/supply/relief)

Payment for annual leave where an individual has no fixed working hours or pay i.e., casual, supply or relief workers, is paid at the normal rate of pay for the post (grade and spinal column point for the individual employee), this will include fixed contractual allowances including Distant Islands Allowance and Unsocial Hours/Shift/Night Working payments.

Calculation of annual leave pay for workers without fixed hours of pay is subject to the following requirements:

- Holiday pay is calculated using an average taken from the last 52 weeks in which they have worked and earned pay.
- Weeks where no work has been carried out and no pay earned must be discounted, weeks covered by annual leave, public holidays, sick pay, paid maternity leave etc are included as weeks where work undertaken and pay given (weeks of no pay for sickness, maternity etc are not included).
- There is no requirement to look back more than 104 weeks (2 years) to get 52 weeks in which work has been done and pay earned.
- If there is no 52 weeks worked in last 104 weeks (2 years) then an average of the actual weeks worked will be used.

Where casual/supply or relief workers are regularly working (4 weeks or more consecutively), they have a right to have a temporary contract progressed via a Change in Establishment.

4.3. Public Holidays

4.3.1. Entitlement

There are 10 Council public holidays each year. The Council may require some or all the public holidays and up to 3 days annual leave to be taken during the Christmas/New Year period.

The Council public holiday days are:

- Easter Monday.
- May Day.
- Dounby Show Day.
- Christmas Day.
- Boxing Day.
- 3 days between Christmas and New Year.
- New Year's Day.
- 2 January.

Where the Christmas Day and New Year's Day fall on a Saturday or Sunday, the Christmas/Boxing Day and New Year/2 January holidays will be subject to replacement days as show below for employees with normal patterns of work of Monday to Friday.

Day of the week the 25th falls on:	Christmas	New Year
Monday	25 (Monday) and 26 December (Tuesday)	1 (Monday) and 2 January (Tuesday)
Tuesday	25 (Tuesday) and 26 December (Wednesday)	1 (Tuesday) and 2 January (Wednesday)
Wednesday	25 (Wednesday) and 26 December (Thursday)	1 (Wednesday) and 2 January (Thursday)
Thursday	25 (Thursday) and 26 December (Friday)	1 (Thursday) and 2 January (Friday)
Friday	25 (Friday) and 28 December (Monday)	1 (Friday) and 4 January (Monday)
Saturday	27 (Monday) and 28 December (Tuesday)	3 (Monday) and 4 January (Tuesday)
Sunday	26 (Monday) and 27 December (Tuesday)	2 (Monday) and 3 January (Tuesday)

Anyone commencing or finishing employment with the Council part way through the leave year will be entitled to a pro-rata entitlement of the 10 days public holiday, again based on the number of complete calendar weeks worked in that leave year. See section 4.5.2.

The public holiday days which fall on a working day during the contracted period must then be deducted from total public holiday entitlement for the year.

Where there is insufficient public holiday entitlement to cover the public holidays falling during an individual's working pattern, they are required to use annual leave entitlement to cover these. The use of time off in lieu (TOIL) or Flexi leave for this purpose is not permitted.

4.3.2. Payment - employees whose working pattern does not normally include public holiday working (i.e., their place of work is closed on a public holiday)

Work on a general or public holiday will be paid at the rate of double time in complete recompense or single time with equivalent TOIL. Overtime worked on 25 December, 26 December, 1 January and 2 January will be paid at the rate of double time with equivalent TOIL.

The TOIL entitlement is as follows:

- Where the time worked is up to 4 hours the TOIL will be 4 hours, or
- Where the time worked is more than 4 hours and up to 7 hours the TOIL will be 7 hours.
- Where the time worked is more than 7 hours, TOIL will be the actual hours worked.

4.3.3. Payment - employees whose working pattern normally includes public holiday working and are in receipt of unsocial hours allowances (i.e. their place of work remains open and operational on a public holiday)

Where the normal working pattern for an employee includes working on public holidays (e.g. residential care homes for older people or children) and the individual receives payment of an unsocial hour's allowance, there will be no separate recognition for contracted hours worked on public and general holidays except for hours worked on 25 December and 1 January (not the replacement days) which will attract double time.

Public holiday days for these employees will be added to the annual leave entitlement and can be requested through agreement by management in line with the provisions on requesting annual leave. Work on Christmas Day and New Year's Day will attract double time.

4.3.4. Payment – employees whose working pattern normally includes public holiday working and are NOT in receipt of unsocial hours allowances (i.e., their place of work remains open and operational on a public holiday)

Work on a general or public holiday will be paid at the rate of double time in complete recompense or single time with equivalent TOIL. Work on 25 December, 26 December, 1 January and 2 January will be paid at the rate of double time with equivalent TOIL.

The TOIL entitlement is as follows:

- Where the time worked is up to 4 hours the TOIL will be 4 hours, or
- Where the time worked is more than 4 hours and up to 7 hours the TOIL will be 7 hours.
- Where the time worked is more than 7 hours, TOIL will be the actual hours worked.

4.4. Shift Workers, Part-Time, Term-Time and other working patterns

4.4.1. Pro-rata Entitlement

Leave and public holiday entitlement for part-time, term-time staff is always pro-rata of the full-time entitlement. The entitlement is calculated pro-rata on both weekly contracted hours and the number of weeks worked in the year (including leave and public holidays).

See Annex 1 for Term Time Working Weeks.

Full-time working is defined as working the normal full-time hours for the post (either 35 or 37) for 52 weeks of the year.

A spreadsheet to automatically calculate pro-rata leave and public holiday entitlement for starters, leavers and part-time/part week or year is available from Human Resources and should be used as the preferred method of calculation.

4.5. Annualised Hours Contracted Employees

Annualised hours contracted employee have the same entitlements to annual leave and public holidays on a pro-rata basis as other contracted staff. Given the specific nature of annualised hours working there are some specific provisions that will need to be taken into account in relation to the management of annual leave and public holidays.

Annual leave and Public Holiday entitlement should be calculated in hours. The following table gives the full-time equivalent figures.

Annualised Hours Annual Leave and Public Holiday Entitlement (1.0 FTE)			
	Entitlement in days	Entitlement in hours (35-hour FTE post)	Entitlement in hours (37-hour FTE post)
Less than 1 years' service at 1 April	33	231	244.2
More than 1 years' service at 1 April but less than 2	34	238	251.6
More than 2 years' service at 1 April but less than 3	35	245	259
More than 3 years' service at 1 April but less than 4	36	252	266.4
More than 4 years' service at 1 April but less than 5	37	259	273.8
5 years or more service at 1 April	38	266	281.2

Pro-rata combined annual leave and public holiday entitlement for annualised hours employees is calculated by aggregating annual leave entitlement, public holidays and floating hours, dividing the total by either 1824.9 (35 FTE) or 1929.18 (37 FTE) and multiplying by the number of annualised contracted hours.

Appropriate leave must be taken for public holidays that fall on days which an employee would normally work.

Annualised hours contracted hours <u>include</u> the relevant pro-rata number of hours for annual leave and public holiday each year. Timesheets are therefore not required to be submitted for annual leave and public holidays.

With the increase in annual leave and public holiday entitlement over the first 5 years continuous service, this will see the actual number of hours worked each year reduce slightly. As part of the annual review of annualised hours managers may wish to consider if a proportionate increase in overall annualised hours is necessary.

4.6. Casual/Supply/Relief Workers

Individuals working under casual/supply/relief arrangements, working ad-hoc hours for no more than 4 consecutive weeks, have an entitlement to pro-rata statutory annual leave and public holiday entitlement.

A spreadsheet to automatically calculate pro-rata annual leave and public holiday entitlement for starters, leavers, and part-time or part-week or part-year is available from Human Resources, as well as the Staff Intranet and the MyView HR/Payroll system portal. This should be the default method of calculation.

Casual/supply/relief staff should be advised of their annual leave entitlement on a regular basis, and they should then seek approval from their line manager as to when this annual leave can be taken. Normal timescales are quarterly, with the accrued leave being taken in the next quarter.

The annual leave should be recorded on staff rotas in hours for the agreed leave days. The corresponding hours for these days should be claimed on the employee's timesheets along with any other hours worked during the period.

It is important to note the annual leave days claimed on a casual/supply/relief member of staff's timesheet are classified statutory leave. This means no payment can be made in lieu of these days (other than on termination of employment) and staff cannot be asked to work in that role or in any other Council employment on these annual leave days.

4.7. Starters and Leavers

4.7.1. Annual Leave

Employees commencing or finishing employment with the Council part way through the annual leave year will be entitled to annual leave and public holidays on a pro-rata basis calculated from the date of commencement to 31 March or from 1 April to their last date of employment in that year as appropriate.

The pro-rata calculation is based on the complete number of calendar weeks worked in that annual leave year and is calculated using the following:

Number of complete calendar weeks worked / 52 (total number of weeks in the leave year) X full year leave entitlement for a full time (35 or 37 hour) contract.

Calculations should always be rounded up to the nearest half day or nearest hour for calculations in hours.

Calculations in hours are based on a 7-hour day for 35-hour FTE week contract and a 7.4-hour day for 37-hour FTE week contract.

A spreadsheet to automatically calculate pro-rata leave and public holiday entitlement for starters, leavers, and part-time part-week or year is available from Human Resources and on My View. This should be the default method of calculation.

On leaving employment with the Council where annual leave (and public holiday entitlement) taken is more than the entitlement, the excess leave taken will normally be deducted from the final salary payment.

On leaving employment, any outstanding annual leave (and public holiday entitlement) that is still due should normally be taken prior to leaving employment. Line Managers must ensure deductions are notified to payroll on termination of employment form.

Payment in lieu of outstanding annual leave entitlement on leaving employment will only be made where it is not possible for that leave to be taken prior to leaving employment.

4.7.2. Public Holidays

Employees commencing or finishing employment with the Council part way through the leave year will be entitled to a pro-rata entitlement of the 10 days public holiday, again based on the number of complete calendar weeks worked in that leave year.

The pro-rata calculation is based on number of complete calendar weeks worked in that leave year and is calculated using the following:

Number of complete weeks worked / 52 total number of weeks in the leave year X 10 public holiday days or 70 or 74 public holiday hours.

Calculations should always be rounded up to the nearest half day or nearest hour for calculations in hours.

Calculations in hours are based on 7-hour day for 35-hour FTE week contract and 7.4-hour day for 37-hour FTE week contract.

A spread sheet to automatically calculate pro-rata leave and public holiday entitlement for starters, leavers, and part-time part-week or year is available from Human Resources and on My View. This should be the default method of calculation.

Public Holidays which fall on a working day during the contracted period must then be deducted from total days due. Where there is insufficient public holiday entitlement to cover the public holidays falling during an individual's working pattern, annual leave entitlement will require to be used to cover these. The use of Time off in lieu (TOIL) of Flexi leave for this purpose is not permitted.

Example annual leave and public holiday entitlements are attached as Annex 2.

4.8. Requesting and Approval of Leave

Employees should make requests to take annual leave to their line manager.

Annual Leave approval is subject to the needs of the Council and cannot be guaranteed. However, the Council will not unreasonably refuse a request for annual leave.

Employees are reminded that they should not book travel or any other arrangements prior to their request for annual leave being granted. The Council will not accept responsibility for any costs associated with pre-existing bookings being amended or cancelled where annual leave is declined.

Employees should plan and make annual leave requests as early in the leave year as possible. This will ensure that line managers can consider requests equitably and ensure adequate cover is always in place. Requests are considered on a first come first served basis.

Employees are requested to give as much notice as possible in relation to annual leave requests. Normally the minimum notice expected to request annual leave is a period of twice the period of annual leave being requested. e.g. a request for two weeks annual leave should normally be submitted <u>no later than</u> four weeks before the first day of leave.

Line Managers should consider requests and confirm approval or not as soon as reasonably possible to allow employees adequate time to make their holiday arrangements.

Examples of what would be considered reasonable management response times are outlined below:

- Where the request for leave is for a week and, subject to the minimum two weeks' notice being given, managers should normally look to respond within a week.
- Where annual leave requests are submitted well in advance of the requested leave, it is expected that managers will normally look to provide a response to the request within two weeks.
- Where an annual leave request is for a short duration e.g. one or two days' where
 notice of the request is only a few days, managers will normally look to provide a
 response to the request within one day.
- In exceptional circumstances where the minimum notice period has not been provided, managers should look to respond as soon as possible.

There is no formal appeal mechanism in respect of requests for annual leave being declined. However, individuals would have recourse to the Council's Grievance Policy and Procedure where they consider that they have been treated unfairly or unreasonably and the matter has been unable to be resolved through informal methods.

4.9. Carry Forward of Leave

4.9.1. General Provisions

An employee may carry over up to a maximum of five days annual leave entitlement, from one leave year to the next without the authorisation of their manager. Employees working part-time or part-year may carry over the pro-rata equivalent to five days annual leave entitlement from one leave year to the next without the authorisation of their line manager. This leave is required to be taken by 30 June of the next leave year, otherwise it will be lost.

Any leave above the allowed limit of five days which is not taken by the end of the leave year will be lost unless there is an exceptional reason why the employee needs to carry this annual leave over in the next leave year.

Where an employee wishes to carry over annual leave allocation above the allowed limit, the Annual Leave Exceptional Carry Forward Request form, (Annex 3), must be completed for consideration by the line manager and approval by Executive Director before the end of the leave year for which carry forward is being sought.

Leave approved under exceptional carry forward is required to be taken by 30 June within the next leave year, otherwise it shall be lost.

Where exceptional carry forward is approved there is an expectation that a line manager should ensure that an employee should take their following year's leave entitlement including the exceptional carry forward and that there is no requirement for exceptional carry forward for a second, consecutive year.

4.9.2. Carry Forward – Long Term Sickness

Employees returning from periods of long-term sickness absence should be encouraged to take all outstanding annual leave entitlement before the end of the current leave year providing that there is sufficient time remaining in the current leave year for them to do so.

Employees who do not take all their outstanding annual leave in the current leave year, even though there is sufficient time remaining to do so, will normally only be allowed to carry forward 5 days annual leave to the following leave year (pro-rata for part-time, part-week and part-year working employees).

Where a period of long-term sickness absence continues over two separate leave years, or a return to work in one year does not allow for time to take all outstanding leave, carry forward of the minimum level of annual leave entitlement should be allowed. No separate approval process is required where the amount of leave carried forward exceeds five days.

Where an employee has been off sick for a period exceeding 18 months, statutory legislation dictates that only annual leave accrued in the first 18 months of sick leave can be carried forward. Annual leave accrued after the first 18-month period of sick leave cannot be taken and a payment will be made to the employee in lieu of the amount of annual leave days lost.

4.9.3. Carry Forward – Maternity, Adoption, Surrogacy Leave

During a period of maternity, adoption or surrogacy leave an employee will accrue their full normal entitlement to annual leave and public holidays.

Employees returning from periods of maternity, adoption or surrogacy leave should be encouraged to take all outstanding annual leave entitlement, including public holiday entitlement, before the end of the current leave year in which the return-to-work falls providing that there is sufficient time remaining in the current leave year for them to do so.

Where there is insufficient time remaining in the current leave year for an employee to take all their outstanding annual leave entitlement, including public holiday entitlement, carry forward of any outstanding annual leave will be automatic and will not require exceptional approval.

Exceptional carry forward for leave will not normally be given where the reasons for this relate to taking accrued leave from maternity, adoption, or surrogacy leave, a 12-month period is considered more than reasonable time to be able to take such accrued leave.

4.10. Annual Leave/Public Holidays and Sickness

4.10.1. Pro-rata Annual Leave and Public Holidays for Long Term Sickness

Where an employee has been absent from work due to illness for a continuous period of more than 3 months (12 weeks), annual leave entitlement must be recalculated so that the employee is only awarded an amount of annual leave which is proportionate to the period they have attended work in the leave year.

For example, if an employee has been absent from work for a continuous period of 4 months during the leave year, they should only be awarded 8/12ths of their normal annual leave entitlement. However, it should be noted that an employee's annual leave entitlement <u>cannot</u> drop below the statutory minimum of 5.6 weeks (28 days) (pro-rata for part-time, part-week and part-year working employees) after any recalculation has taken place.

Annual leave entitlement should not be recalculated if an employee has already used all their annual leave entitlement prior to being absent from work for a continuous period of more than 3 months.

If the period of continuous sickness absence overlaps two leave years, a separate recalculation must be carried out for each leave year based on the actual period of sickness absence occurring in each leave year.

For example, an employee could have a continuous period of sickness absence for 5 months from 1 February to 30 June. In this case, 2 months of the sickness absence have occurred in the first leave year and 3 months have occurred in the second leave year.

The employee's annual leave entitlement for the first leave year would be recalculated as 10/12ths of their normal annual leave entitlement and the employee's annual leave entitlement for the second leave year would be recalculated as 9/12ths of their normal annual leave entitlement.

Again, it should be noted that an employee's annual leave entitlement <u>cannot</u> drop below the statutory minimum of 5.6 weeks (28 days) (pro-rata for part-time, part-week and part-year working employees) after the recalculation has taken place. Employees are entitled to, and must take, the statutory minimum leave entitlement in each leave year.

In calculating remaining leave entitlement, the statutory leave minimum shall include the following:

- All annual leave days taken within the current leave year prior sickness absence.
- All annual leave days taken within the current leave year during sickness absence.
- Any public holiday days within the current leave year that fell prior to or during the period of sickness absence.
- Any public holiday days remaining within the current leave year on return from sickness absence.

4.10.2. Sickness on a Public Holiday

Sickness absence on one of the Council recognised public holiday days will not entitle an employee to take the public holiday day at a later date. This is in accordance with nationally agreed SJC conditions of service.

4.10.3. Requesting Annual Leave during periods of Sickness Absence

If an employee wishes to take annual leave during a period of sickness absence, it must be requested and approved in the normal manner specified in Section 4.7. In these circumstances, an employee does not have to provide evidence of their fitness to return to work. They must, however, provide the relevant certification, for example a doctor's note, to cover the continuing period of sickness absence after their period of annual leave entitlement.

Any annual leave entitlement taken during a period of sickness absence is paid at an employee's normal salary rate including Distant Islands Allowance and any relevant contractual allowances such as a weekend enhancement.

The Payroll Section and Human Resources must both be notified when an employee is to be paid annual leave entitlement during a period of sickness absence. This is so that the correct payments can be made to the employee and the correct sickness absence can be recorded against their payroll record.

4.10.4. Reclaiming pre-booked annual leave due to Sickness Absence

If an employee has a period of sickness absence during authorised annual leave, the line manager can credit the employee with the number of days/hours annual leave which coincides with the period of sickness absence.

In order for this to happen the employee must have satisfied the following provisions:

- Correct notification of the sickness absence must have been given by the employee in accordance with Section 8 of the Council's Sickness Absence Policy and Procedure i.e. on the first day of absence, the fourth day of absence; and
- The employee must provide a medical certificate covering the entire period of annual leave that they want to be credited with (self-certification is not sufficient for these purposes).

It should be noted that this position does not in any way conflict with the statutory sickness certification process, a GP Fit Note is not required, a formal letter or similar correspondence confirming sickness will be sufficient.

Any costs associated with the provision of a medical certificate in respect of this provision are the employee's responsibility and will not be paid by the Council and cannot be reclaimed from the Council. The Council's Occupational Health Adviser will not be used for the purpose of confirming sickness so that an employee can reclaim leave entitlement.

4.11. Annual Leave/Public Holidays and Unpaid Leave of Absence

Where unpaid leave of absence is granted for an employee totalling 1 week or more (either 1 full week or a series of individual days totalling a normal working week for that individual) in any annual leave year, a pro-rata reduction in annual leave and public holiday entitlement shall apply.

4.12. Annual Leave, Public Holiday, and Other work/employment

Annual Leave and Public Holidays are, under statute, a break from work/employment. The Council, therefore, has an obligation to ensure that all employees must take statutory breaks from any work/employment. Consequently, an employee must not take annual leave/public holidays so that they can participate in other work/employment, either within or out with the Council.

4.13. Annual Leave/Public Holidays and Related Policies

Further specific provisions relating to annual leave and public holidays which are linked to other Council HR Policies and Procedures including Maternity, Adoption, Surrogacy and Leave of Absence are included within these Policies and Procedures.

5. SNCT Staff (including Teachers, Music Instructors and Educational Psychologists)

5.1. Leave Year

For Teachers and Music Instructors the leave year shall run in conjunction with the school year for Orkney Islands Council. Dates for each school year are agreed by the Orkney Joint Negotiating Committee for Teachers (OJNCT).

For Educational Psychologists, Education Support Officers and Quality Improvement Officers and Quality Improvement Managers (or roles paid as these), the leave year runs from 1 April to 31 March.

5.2. Annual Leave and Public Holiday Entitlement

5.2.1. Teachers and Music Instructors

The annual leave entitlement of a full-time teacher or music instructor shall be 40 days, inclusive of public holidays.

Pro rata arrangements shall apply to part time staff and those employed for any part of the leave year.

The placement of the 40 days annual leave within the school holiday periods shall be determined by OJNCT. Allocation of the leave days shall be in a broadly proportionate manner across the four main school holiday periods Autumn, Winter, Spring and Summer.

Teachers and music instructors will accrue paid leave of 0.20513 of a day for each day worked in the school session and pro-rata for each part day worked in the school session.

'Days worked' include any period of family leave, any period of sickness absence and any other form of paid leave, except for annual leave. Accrued annual leave because of family leave will count as 'days worked'.

5.2.2. Educational Psychologists, Education Support Officers and Quality Improvement Officers and Quality Improvement Managers (or roles paid as these)

For employees with less than 5 years continuous service at the beginning of a leave year, leave entitlement is 35 days, inclusive of public holidays.

For employees with 5 years or more continuous service at the beginning of a leave year, leave entitlement is 40 days, inclusive of public holidays

5.3. Entitlement – Starters and Leavers

5.3.1. Teachers and Music Instructors - Leave on Commencement of Employment

A teacher or music instructor working for an entire school session will accrue full leave entitlement of 40 days inclusive of public holidays, pro-rata for part-time teachers or music instructors.

Where a teacher or music instructor joins from another Scottish Council mid-way through a leave year, their combined leave entitlement across the two Councils shall total 40 days inclusive of public holidays, pro-rata for part-time teachers or music instructors.

Where a teacher or music instructor joins from an organisation other than a Scottish Council midway through a leave year, leave entitlement shall be calculated as 0.20513 for each day worked for Orkney Islands Council in that leave year.

5.3.2 Teachers and Music Instructors - Leave on Termination of Employment

Where a teacher or music instructor leaves to join another Scottish Council mid-way through a leave year, their combined leave entitlement across the two Councils shall total 40 days inclusive of public holidays, pro-rata for part-time teachers or music instructors.

Where a teacher or music instructor leaves midway through a leave year to join an organisation other than another Scottish Council, or leaves employment altogether, leave entitlement shall be calculated as 0.20513 for each day worked for Orkney Islands Council in that leave year.

Where a teacher or music instructor leaves employment, their outstanding leave entitlement is calculated by taking the number of days leave accrued within the school session and deducting the number of days leave they have already taken.

On leaving employment, if it transpires that a teacher or music instructor has taken more leave entitlement than they have accrued, a day's pay shall be recovered from the teacher or music instructor's final salary payment for each day taken more than the accrued entitlement.

If it transpires that the teacher or music instructor has taken less annual leave entitlement than they have accrued, and the balance of annual leave cannot be taken, a day's pay for each unused day of leave should be paid along with the teacher or music instructor's final salary payment.

5.3.3. Educational Psychologist/Education Support Officer, Quality Improvement Officer or Quality Improvement Manager (or roles paid as these)

Where an Educational Psychologist/Education Support Officer, Quality Improvement Officer or Quality Improvement Manager (or roles paid as these) commences or leaves employment part way through a leave year, they will have pro-rata entitlement to either 35 or 40 days leave inclusive of public holiday for that leave year.

The pro-rata calculation is done on the complete number of weeks worked in that leave year as per Section 4.6.1.

On leaving employment, if it transpires that an Educational Psychologist/Education Support Officer, Quality Improvement Officer or Quality Improvement Manager (or roles paid as these) has taken more leave entitlement than they have accrued, a day's pay shall be recovered from the Educational Psychologist/Education Support Officer, Quality Improvement Officer or Quality Improvement Manager (or roles paid as these) final salary payment for each day taken more than the accrued entitlement.

If it transpires that the Educational Psychologist/Education Support Officer, Quality Improvement Officer or Quality Improvement Manager (or roles paid as these) has taken less annual leave entitlement than they have accrued, and the balance of annual leave cannot be taken, a day's pay for each unused day of leave should be paid along with the Educational Psychologist/Education Support Officer, Quality Improvement Officer or Quality Improvement Manager (or roles paid as these) final salary payment.

5.4. Annual Leave/Public Holidays and Sickness

5.4.1. Teachers and Music Instructors

If a teacher or music instructor has been incapacitated for a continuous period of 8 consecutive days or more and the period of sickness is fully covered by a medical certificate, compensatory leave will accrue as follows:

For each certified period of sickness absence, the teacher or music instructor will accrue compensatory leave of 2 days for every 5 days of designated annual leave which cannot be taken, subject to a maximum credit of 8 such days accruing in any one leave year.

In agreement with their Head Teacher/Manager, compensatory leave entitlement shall be taken following the teacher or music instructor's return to work. The timing of this leave is subject to the overriding needs of the service and should normally be taken in the term in which the employee returns to work or, if this is not possible, in the following term.

Where a teacher or music instructor has not taken, or will be unable to take, their statutory leave entitlement (28 days) within a leave year because of certified sickness, they shall receive the appropriate balance of leave to bring their total leave to the statutory leave entitlement for that leave year.

Such leave will normally be carried forward into the following leave year. Pro rata arrangements shall apply to part time staff and those employed for any part of the leave year.

Where a teacher or music instructor is carrying forward compensatory leave entitlement and statutory leave entitlement the total of such leave shall not exceed the maximum statutory leave entitlement.

A teacher or music instructor is entitled to take, in full or in part, the appropriate balance of leave up to the statutory leave provision during a period of sickness absence. Where such leave is taken during a period of sickness absence, pay shall be the normal pay for each day (inclusive of Statutory Sick Pay and replacing Sickness Allowance).

Any leave up to the statutory leave entitlement which remains untaken at the end of the leave year, shall be carried forward into the next leave year and shall be taken following the employee's return to work. The timing of this leave shall take account of the needs of the service and should normally be taken in the term in which the return to work takes place or within the following term.

5.4.2. Educational Psychologists, Education Support Officers and Quality Improvement Officers and Quality Improvement Managers (or roles paid as these)

Any period of sickness absence which coincides with a period of annual leave should be regarded as sickness absence if the appropriate self-certificate or statement of fitness for work is submitted.

If the period of sickness absence exceeds 3 months during a leave year, the Council has discretion to either give the employee full annual leave entitlement or to limit it to an amount of annual leave which is proportionate to the period they have attended work in the leave year (subject to the minimum statutory leave provisions).

Where statutory leave provision has not been taken within a leave year owing to certified sickness, the appropriate balance of leave to bring the total leave to the statutory leave provision for that leave year should be provided. Pro rata arrangements shall apply to part time staff and those employed for any part of the leave year.

Any untaken leave up to the statutory leave provision which remains untaken at the end of the leave year, shall be carried forward into the next leave year and shall be taken following the employee's return to work. The timing of this leave shall take account of the needs of the service and should normally be taken as soon as possible following the return to work.

5.5. Annual Leave/Public Holidays and Related Policies

Further specific provisions relating to annual leave and public holidays which are linked to other Council HR Policies and Procedures including Maternity, Adoption and Leave of Absence are included within these Policies and Procedures and within SNCT Conditions of Service (http://www.snct.org.uk).

6. Orkney College Staff (Academic and Support staff)

6.1. Leave Year

The Leave Year for Orkney College is from 1 September to 31 August.

6.2. Entitlement – Annual Leave

6.2.1. College Academic Staff

Leave entitlement is 55 days inclusive of all public holidays.

College Academic staff shall be entitled to a minimum 25 days' continuous leave (5 weeks), excluding Saturdays and Sundays, during the months of June, July and August.

The Council may require some or all the annual leave entitlement to be taken during the Christmas/New Year period.

6.2.2. College Support Staff

Annual Leave and Public Holiday entitlements and provisions for College Support Staff are the same as those for Council Staff (SJC Conditions of Service), see section 4.3.

6.3. Entitlement – Public Holidays

6.3.1. College Academic Staff

Public holiday days for Orkney College Academic Staff are the same as those for Council staff (see Section 4.3) and are included within their inclusive leave entitlement as detailed in section 6.2.1.

6.3.2. College Support Staff

Annual Leave and Public Holiday entitlements and provisions for Orkney College Support Staff are the same as those for Council Staff (SJC Conditions of Service), see section 4.

6.4. Other Provisions

All other provisions in respect of annual leave and public holidays for Orkney College Academic and Support staff are in line with those outlined in this policy and procedures under Section 4 Council Staff (SJC).

6.5. NJNC National Bargaining for Scottish Colleges

At the time of writing and approval of this Policy, Orkney Islands Council is not a signature to the National Recognitionnand Procedures Agreement for Staff in Scottish Colleges in respect of Terms and Conditions (including annual leave and public holidays) for College Academic Staff or Pay and Terms and Conditions (including annual leave and public holidays) for College Support staff.

Should that position change in the future it may be necessary to review and amend this section should annual leave and public holiday entitlements or provisions be different to those detailed in this policy.

7. Chief Officers (SJNC Chief Officials Conditions of Service)

Annual Leave Entitlement for Chief Officers is 30 days per annum. In all other respects annual leave and public holiday policy and provisions is the same as SJC staff, as covered in Section 4 of this policy.

Annex 1

Term Time Working Weeks including Annual Leave and Public Holiday Entitlement

*Figures are comparative working weeks to a full year 52 week working pattern and are inclusive of leave and public holiday entitlement.

Working 20 weeks per year (excluding Leave and Public Holiday Entitlement)			
Continuous Service at Start of Leave Year	Leave and Public Holidays (weeks)	Total Working Weeks incl. Leave and Public Holidays*	
Up to 1 year	2.90	22.90	
1 year but less than 2 years	3.00	23.00	
2 year but less than 3 years	3.10	23.10	
3 year but less than 4 years	3.20	23.20	
4 year but less than 5 years	3.31	23.31	
5 years or more	3.41	23.41	

Working 26 weeks per year (excluding Leave and Public Holiday Entitlement)			
Continuous Service at Start of Leave Year	Leave and Public Holidays (weeks)	Total Working Weeks incl. Leave and Public Holidays*	
Up to 1 year	3.77	29.77	
1 year but less than 2 years	3.90	29.90	
2 year but less than 3 years	4.03	30.03	
3 year but less than 4 years	4.17	30.17	
4 year but less than 5 years	4.30	30.30	
5 years or more	4.44	30.44	

Working 36 weeks per year (excluding Leave and Public Holiday Entitlement)			
Continuous Service at Start of Leave Year	Leave and Public Holidays (weeks)	Total Working Weeks incl. Leave and Public Holidays*	
Up to 1 year	5.51	41.51	
1 year but less than 2 years	5.70	41.70	
2 year but less than 3 years	5.89	41.89	
3 year but less than 4 years	6.09	42.09	
4 year but less than 5 years	6.29	42.29	
5 years or more	6.48	42.48	

Working 38 weeks per year (excluding Leave and Public Holiday Entitlement)			
Continuous Service at Start of Leave Year	Leave and Public Holidays (weeks)	Total Working Weeks incl. Leave and Public Holidays*	
Up to 1 year	5.51	43.51	
1 year but less than 2 years	5.70	43.70	
2 year but less than 3 years	5.89	43.89	
3 year but less than 4 years	6.09	44.09	
4 year but less than 5 years	6.29	44.29	
5 years or more	6.48	44.48	

Working 39 weeks per year (excluding Leave and Public Holiday Entitlement)			
Continuous Service at Start of Leave Year	Leave and Public Holidays (weeks)	Total Working Weeks incl. Leave and Public Holidays*	
Up to 1 year	5.65	44.65	
1 year but less than 2 years	5.85	44.85	
2 year but less than 3 years	6.05	45.05	
3 year but less than 4 years	6.25	45.25	
4 year but less than 5 years	6.45	45.45	
5 years or more	6.65	45.65	

Working 40 weeks per year (excluding Leave and Public Holiday Entitlement)		
Continuous Service at Start of Leave Year	Leave and Public Holidays (weeks)	Total Working Weeks incl. Leave and Public Holidays*
Up to 1 year	5.80	45.80
1 year but less than 2 years	6.00	46.00
2 year but less than 3 years	6.20	46.20
3 year but less than 4 years	6.41	46.41
4 year but less than 5 years	6.62	46.62
5 years or more	6.83	46.83

Working 41 weeks per year (excluding Leave and Public Holiday Entitlement)			
Continuous Service at Start of Leave Year	Leave and Public Holidays (weeks)	Total Working Weeks incl. Leave and Public Holidays*	
Up to 1 year	5.94	46.94	
1 year but less than 2 years	6.15	47.15	
2 year but less than 3 years	6.36	47.36	
3 year but less than 4 years	6.57	47.57	
4 year but less than 5 years	6.78	47.78	
5 years or more	7.00	48.00	

Working 42 weeks per year (excluding Leave and Public Holiday Entitlement)				
Continuous Service at Start of Leave Year	Leave and Public Holidays (weeks)	Total Working Weeks incl. Leave and Public Holidays*		
Up to 1 year	6.09	48.09		
1 year but less than 2 years	6.30	48.30		
2 year but less than 3 years	6.51	48.51		
3 year but less than 4 years	6.73	48.73		
4 year but less than 5 years	6.95	48.95		
5 years or more	7.17	49.17		

Working 43 weeks per year (excluding Leave and Public Holiday Entitlement)				
Continuous Service at Start of Leave Year	Leave and Public Holidays (weeks)	Total Working Weeks incl. Leave and Public Holidays*		
Up to 1 year	6.23	49.23		
1 year but less than 2 years	6.45	49.45		
2 year but less than 3 years	6.67	49.67		
3 year but less than 4 years	6.89	49.89		
4 year but less than 5 years	7.11	50.11		
5 years or more	7.34	50.34		

Working 44 weeks per year (excluding Leave and Public Holiday Entitlement)				
Continuous Service at Start of Leave Year	Leave and Public Holidays (weeks)	Total Working Weeks incl. Leave and Public Holidays*		
Up to 1 year	6.38	50.38		
1 year but less than 2 years	6.60	50.60		
2 year but less than 3 years	6.82	50.82		
3 year but less than 4 years	7.05	51.05		
4 year but less than 5 years	7.28	51.28		
5 years or more	7.51	51.51		

Annex 2

Example SJC Starter and Leaver calculations

Example 1

John commenced employment as a Social Care Assistant on 6 January 2020, working 37 hours per week for 52 weeks per year. He does not have continuous service with another Council so his full annual leave entitlement for a year is 33 days, i.e., 23 days plus 10 public holidays as he has less than 1 years' service.

In his first year of employment John will work 12 complete weeks from 6 January 2020 to 31 March 2020. This will entitle him to 8 days annual leave entitlement, i.e. (12 weeks \div 52 weeks) x 33 days = 7.6 days, rounded up to 8 days.

Example 2

Mary leaves employment on 28 August 2020 after working for the Council for 25 years as a part-time Clerical Assistant on a contract of 21 hours per week, or 0.60 FTE. As she has more than 5 years' service at her date of leaving her full annual leave entitlement for a year is 160 hours i.e. (196 hours annual leave plus 70 public holiday hours) x 0.60 FTE = 159.60 hours rounded up to 160 hours.

In her last year of employment Mary will have worked for 21 complete weeks from 1 April 2020 to 28 August 2020 so her annual leave entitlement for her final year will be 65 hours, i.e. (21 weeks \div 52 weeks) x 160 hours = 64.61 hours, rounded up to 65 hours.

Example 3

Karen commences employment as a school cook on 17 August 2020 working 25 hours per week term-time for 43.51 weeks per year, or 0.5654 FTE i.e. (25 hours x 43.51 weeks) \div (37 hours x 52 weeks). She does not have continuous service with another Council so her full annual leave entitlement for a year is 138 hours i.e. (170 hours annual leave plus 74 public holiday hours) x 0.5654 FTE = 137.95 hours rounded up to 138 hours.

In her first year of employment Karen will have worked 32 complete weeks from 17 August 2020 to 31 March 2021 so her annual leave entitlement for her first year will be 85 hours, i.e. (32 weeks \div 52 weeks) x 138 hours = 84.92 hours, rounded up to 85 hours.

Example 4

Ken commences employment as a seasonal road worker on 18 May 2020 on a short-term contract until 28 August 2020, working 37 hours per week. He does not have continuous service with another Council so his full annual leave entitlement for a year is 33 days, i.e., 23 days plus 10 public holidays as he has less than 1 years' service.

During his short-term contract Ken will work 15 complete weeks from 18 May 2020 to 28 August 2020. This will entitle him to 10 days annual leave entitlement, i.e. (15 weeks \div 52 weeks) x 33 days = 9.52 days, rounded up to 10 days.

Annex 3

Annual Leave Exceptional Carry Forward Request



(Form is be submitted	d prior to end of leave year from which carry forward is being requested)
Employee Name	
Job Title	
Work Location	
	sted to be carried forward from previous year:*e the 5 days that can be carried over without authorisation and any additional date.
Explanation for seeki	ng exceptional carry forward:
	nd that if approved this leave must be taken by 30 June in the next leave if exceptional carry forward leave is not approved, I will be able to carry rata.
Employee :	Date:
Line Manager Agreer	ment In Agreement Not in Agreement
Comments:	
Employee :	Date:
Executive Director A	pproval Approved Not Approved
Comments:	
Employee :	Date:
copy to Employee with o	riginal to Employee Personal File